IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

V.

JOHN HENRY CARTER,
Respondent.

CASE NO. 95,605

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JAMES W. ROGERS
TALLAHASSEE BUREAU CHIEF,
CRIMINAL APPEALS
FLORIDA BAR NO. 325791

KARLA D. ELLIS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 122017

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 Ext 4604

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, the State of Florida, the Appellee in the First
District Court of Appeal and the prosecuting authority in the
trial court, will be referenced in this brief as Petitioner, the
prosecution, or the State. Respondent, John Henry Carter, the
Appellant in the First District Court of Appeal and the defendant
in the trial court, will be referenced in this brief as
Respondent or his proper name.

The record on appeal consists of one volume, which will be referenced according to the respective number designated in the Index to the Record on Appeal, followed by any appropriate page number.

All emphasis through bold lettering is supplied unless the contrary is indicated.

CERTIFICATE OF FONT AND TYPE SIZE

Counsel certifies that this brief was typed using Courier New 12.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

By information on January 8, 1997, Respondent was charged with assault, battery, and/or aggravated battery, stalking, and two counts of burglary. (I 1-2). Respondent pled nolo contendere to aggravated battery, trespass, and misdemeanor stalking and was sentenced to nine months in jail followed by two years of probation. (I 6, 10).

On March 18, 1998, an affidavit of violation of probation was filed charging Respondent with the following: (1) failing to make reports for the months of December, 1997, and February, 1998; (2) failing to pay his costs of supervision; (3) failing to pay court costs; (4) failing to perform his community service; and (5) failing to receive anger control counseling. (I 16). During the violation of probation hearing, Respondent testified that he filed his December, 1997, report, but he admitted that he failed to file his February, 1998, report. (I 39-40).

The trial court found Respondent not guilty of all the alleged violations of probation in the affidavit except for his failure to file one monthly report in February, 1998. (I 25-26). Respondent pled no contest and was adjudicated guilty of violation of probation. (I 49-50, 63). The trial court revoked Respondent's probation and sentenced him to 54.9 months in the state prison. (I 50, 63).

Respondent filed a timely notice of appeal, and the First District Court of Appeal reversed Respondent's revocation of probation. See Carter v. State, 24 Fla. L. Weekly D1063 (Fla. 1st DCA April 30, 1999). The State filed a timely notice to invoke discretionary jurisdiction, and the Florida Supreme Court accepted jurisdiction. This appeal followed.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

ISSUE I.

Probation is a matter of grace, not a right. The underlying concept of probation is rehabilitation, not punishment. The filing of monthly reports is a means in which probation officers continually supervise their probationers. However, if the trial court cannot insist that these reports be filed, then probation ceases to be an effective alternative to imprisonment. Therefore, the failure to file one monthly report is a wilful and substantial violation of probation. Thus, the trial court properly revoked Respondent's probation, and this Honorable Court should reverse the First District's opinion in Carter v. State, 24 Fla. L. Weekly D1063 (Fla. 1st DCA April 30, 1999).

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

DID THE TRIAL COURT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION WHEN IT REVOKED RESPONDENT'S PROBATION AFTER HE FAILED TO FILE A MONTHLY REPORT?

<u>Introduction</u>

Probation is a matter of grace, not a right. The underlying concept of probation is rehabilitation, not punishment. The filing of monthly reports is a means in which probation officers continually supervise their probationers. However, if the trial court cannot insist that these reports be filed, then probation ceases to be an effective alternative to imprisonment. Therefore, the failure to file one monthly report is a wilful and substantial violation of probation. Thus, the trial court properly revoked Respondent's probation, and this Honorable Court should reverse the First District's opinion in Carter v. State, 24 Fla. L. Weekly D1063 (Fla. 1st DCA April 30, 1999).

The trial court's ruling

The trial court found Respondent guilty of violating probation for failing to file a monthly report with his probation officer in February, 1998. (I 47). The trial court revoked Respondent's probation and sentenced him to a 54.9-month state prison term.

Standard of Review & Burden of Persuasion

The standard of review for probation revocation orders is whether the trial court abused its discretion. Steiner v. State,

604 So.2d 1265, 1267 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992). "[A] trial court is vested with broad discretion in determining whether a probationer has violated a condition of the probation. A violation which triggers a revocation of probation must be 'willful and substantial.' Alleged violations must be proven by the greater weight of the evidence." Burgin v. State, 623 So.2d 575, 576 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993).

This abuse of discretion standard was defined by the Florida Supreme Court in the case of <u>Canakaris v. Canakaris</u>, 382 So.2d. 1197, 1203 (Fla. 1980), in the following manner:

Discretion, in this sense, is abused when the judicial action is arbitrary, fanciful, or unreasonable, which is another way of saying that discretion is abused only where no reasonable man would take the view adopted by the trial court. If reasonable men could differ as to the propriety of the action taken by the trial court, then it cannot be said that the trial court abused its discretion.

In order to establish an abuse of discretion, Respondent must show that reasonable people could not differ as to whether a violation of probation occurred. Respondent did not meet this standard, and this Court should reverse the district court's opinion.

Preservation

If a lawyer fails to make an objection, fails to renew the objection, or fails to make the timely objection on the record and renew it when necessary, the matter is not preserve for appellate review. See <u>Capehart v. State</u>, 583 So.2d 1009, 1014 (Fla. 1991). It is well settled that objections must be made with sufficient specificity to apprise the trial court of the

potential error and to preserve the point for appellate review. Castor v. State, 365 So.2d 701 (Fla. 1978).

In the case at bar, Respondent properly preserved this issue for appellate review. (I 51).

Merits

It is well settled law in Florida that probation is a matter of legislative and judicial grace, not a right. Robinson v. State, 442 So. 2d 284, 286 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1983); Bouie v. State, 360 So. 2d 1142 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1978); Baker v. State, 319 So. 2d 628 (Fla. 1st DCA 1975). Rehabilitation, not punishment, is the underlying concept of probation. Freeman v. State, 382 So. 2d 1307, 1308 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1980); Burns v. United States, 287 U.S. 216, 53 S.Ct. 154 (1932).

Pursuant to statute, probation is "a form of community supervision requiring specified contacts with parole and probation officers and other terms and conditions as provided in s. 948.03." § 948.001(5), Fla. Stat. (1997). The burdens of compliance with conditions of probation are minimal compared to the alternative imprisonment. Chappell v. State, 429 So. 2d 84, 85 (Fla. 5th DCA 1983); Watkins v. State, 368 So. 2d 363, 366 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1979). If a condition of probation is valid, then the trial court has the discretion to consider the violation of the condition to be material. Diller v. State, 711 So. 2d 54, 55 (Fla. 5th DCA 1998).

The filing of monthly reports is one of the many conditions of probation that a trial court may impose upon a defendant. §

948.03, Fla. Stat. (1997). It is through these reports that continuing supervision over a probationer is maintained. <u>Diller v. State</u>, 711 So. 2d 54, 55 (Fla. 5th DCA 1998). "If the court cannot insist that these reports be filed, the probation ceases to be a viable alternative to incarceration." Id.

The failure to file a single monthly report is a wilful and substantial violation of probation. Schwartz v. State, 719 So. 2d 965 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998); Strunk v. State, 728 So. 2d 320 (Fla. 5th DCA 1999); but see Carter v. State, 24 Fla. L. Weekly D1063 (Fla. 1st DCA April 30, 1999); Moore v. State, 632 So. 2d 199 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994); Sanders v. State, 675 So. 2d 665 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1996).

In the case at bar, the affidavit of violation of probation stated that Respondent had violated several conditions of his probation. (I 16-20). However, he was only found guilty of failing to file one monthly report in February, 1998. (I 47). During the violation of probation hearing, Respondent admitted that he did not file his February, 1998, report because he wilfully wanted to violate probation in order to go back to court. (I 33, 39-40).

In <u>Schwartz v. State</u>, 719 So. 2d 965 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998),
Schwartz claimed that an accident prevented him from filing his
monthly report, but other evidence showed that Schwartz was not
hindered from the accident in filing his report. Thus, the
Fourth District affirmed that Schwartz wilfully and substantially
violated his probation when he failed to file one monthly report.

In <u>Strunk v. State</u>, 728 So. 2d 320 (Fla. 5th DCA 1999), the Fifth District affirmed Strunk's revocation of probation when she failed to file a single monthly report, particularly when Strunk gave no explanation at all for her failure to file the report. The Fifth District, in citing <u>Diller v. State</u>, reasoned that the filing of monthly reports is an important part of the continuing supervision of a probationer, and if the court cannot insist upon the filing of these reports, then the underlying purpose of probation is abrogated. <u>Strunk v. State</u>, 728 So. 2d 320, 321 (Fla. 5th DCA 1999). Thus, due to the necessity to continually supervise probationers and uphold the rehabilitative efforts that probation offers, the Fourth and Fifth districts recognized that the failure to file just one monthly report is a wilful and substantial violation of probation.

Probation is a matter of grace and an alternative to incarceration. Its purpose is to provide a means of rehabilitation; it is not a vehicle to abuse the judicial system in an effort to go before a judge to obtain another method to pay restitution as Respondent did in the case at bar. Therefore, in the instant case, this Honorable Court should reverse the First District's opinion in <u>Carter v. State</u>, 24 Fla. L. Weekly D1063 (Fla. 1st DCA April 30, 1999) because Respondent admitted to wilfully violating probation by failing to file his February, 1998, monthly report.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, the decision of the District Court of Appeal reported at <u>Carter v. State</u>, 24 Fla. L. Weekly D1063 (Fla. 1st DCA April 30, 1999) should be disapproved, and the order for revocation of probation entered in the trial court should be affirmed.