IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

PETITIONER,

v.

CASE NO. 95,605

JOHN HENRY CARTER,

RESPONDENT.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

P. DOUGLAS BRINKMEYER ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE SUITE 401 301 SOUTH MONROE STREET TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (850) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT FLA. BAR #197890

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. 95,605

JOHN HENRY CARTER,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

I PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Respondent was the defendant in the trial court, and will be referred to as respondent in this brief. Petitioner will be referred to as petitioner or the state, and its brief will be referred to as "PB." Attached hereto as an appendix is the opinion of the lower tribunal, which has been reported as Carter v. State, 24 Fla. L. Weekly D1063 (Fla. 1st DCA April 30, 1999).

Counsel certifies that this brief is printed in 12 point Courier New font, and that this brief in WordPerfect 6.1 on a floppy disk has been submitted.

II STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent accepts the statement of the case and facts set forth by petitioner.

III SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Respondent will argue in this brief that the position of the lower tribunal on this issue is correct. The lower tribunal was correct in holding that the failure to file one monthly report is not a substantial and material violation of probation. The Second District is in accord. The cases relied on by the state are not directly on point and are distinguishable. The failure to file one monthly report, in and of itself, is not a substantial and material violation of probation. This Court should adopt the position expressed by the First and Second Districts.

IV ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT REVOKED RESPONDENT'S PROBATION AFTER HE FAILED TO FILE ONE MONTHLY REPORT.

The lower tribunal properly held that the trial court erred in revoking probation based <u>solely</u> upon respondent's failure to file only <u>one</u> monthly report, because such an omission is not a substantial and material violation. The revocation statute requires that the alleged violation be material:

(1) Whenever within the period of probation or community control there are reasonable grounds to believe that a probationer or offender in community control has violated his or her probation or community control in a material respect, any law enforcement officer who is aware of the probationary or community control status of the probationer of offender in community control or any parole or probation supervisor may arrest or request any county or municipal law enforcement officer to arrest such probationer or offender without warrant wherever found and forthwith return him or her to the court granting such probation or community control. Any committing magistrate may issue a warrant, upon the facts being made known to him or her by affidavit of one having knowledge of such facts, for the arrest of the probationer or offender, returnable forthwith before the court granting such probation or community control. Any parole or probation supervisor, any officer authorized to serve criminal process, or any peace officer of this state is authorized to serve and execute such The court, upon the probationer warrant. or offender being brought before it, shall advise him or her of such charge of violation and, if such charge is admitted to be true, may forthwith revoke, modify, or continue the probation or community

control or place the probationer into a community control program. If probation or community control is revoked, the court shall adjudge the probationer or offender quilty of the offense charged and proven or admitted, unless he or she has previously been adjudged guilty, and impose any sentence which it might have originally imposed before placing the probationer on probation or the offender into community control. If such violation of probation or community control is not admitted by the probationer or offender, the court may commit him or her or release him or her with or without bail to await further hearing, or it may dismiss the charge of probation or community control violation. If such charge is not at that time admitted by the probationer or offender and if it is not dismissed, the court, as soon as may be practicable, shall give the probationer or offender an opportunity to be fully heard on his or her behalf in person or by counsel. After such hearing, the court may revoke, modify, or continue the probation or community control or place the probationer into community control. If such probation or community control is revoked, the court shall adjudge the probationer or offender guilty of the offense charged and proven or admitted, unless he or she has previously been adjudged guilty, and impose any sentence which it might have originally imposed before placing the probationer or offender on probation or into community control.

* *

(4) Notwithstanding any other provision of this section, a probationer or an offender in community control who is arrested for violating his or her probation or community control in a material respect may be taken before the court in the county or circuit in which the probationer or offender was arrested. That court shall advise him or her of such charge of a violation and, if such charge is admitted, shall cause him or her to be

brought before the court which granted the probation or community control. If such violation is not admitted by the probationer or offender, the court may commit him or her or release him or her with or without bail to await further hearing. The court, as soon as is practicable, shall give the probationer or offender an opportunity to be fully heard on his or her behalf in person or by counsel. After such hearing, the court shall make findings of fact and forward the findings to the court which granted the probation or community control and to the probationer or offender or his or her attorney. The findings of fact by the hearing court are binding on the court which granted the probation or community control. Upon the probationer or offender being brought before it, the court which granted the probation or community control may revoke, modify, or continue the probation or community control or may place the probationer into community control as provided in this section.

§948.06(1) and (4), Fla. Stat. (1997); emphasis added.

The First and Second Districts have clearly held that the failure to file one monthly report is <u>not</u> a substantial and material violation. <u>Sanders v. State</u>, 675 So. 2d 665 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1996); <u>Moore v. State</u>, 632 So. 2d 199 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994); and <u>Glenn v. State</u>, 558 So. 2d 513 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1990).

In <u>Sanders</u>, the Second District stated:

Finally, the appellant's failure to submit a monthly report does not support revocation in this case. The appellant's probation officer testified that the appellant failed to submit a monthly report for February 1995. The appellant admitted that he failed to file the report. The technical omission of failing to submit one monthly report, by itself, is not a

substantial violation that would support revocation of probation. Glenn v. State, 558 So.2d 513 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990). Because the evidence presented at the revocation hearing fails to demonstrate a willful and substantial violation of probation, we reverse the order of revocation of probation.

Sanders v. State, 675 So. 2d at 666; emphasis added.

Likewise, the Second District in Glenn stated:

The technical omission of failing to submit one monthly report, which Glenn eventually rectified, by itself, cannot be deemed a substantial violation that would support the revocation of Glenn's probation. See Hightower v. State, 529 So.2d 726 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988).

<u>Glenn v. State</u>, 558 So. 2d at 514; emphasis added.¹

In Moore, supra, the court stated:

Appellant Keith Moore appeals the order of the trial court revoking his probation. At issue is whether the trial court abused its discretion in revoking appellant's probation solely for failure to file one monthly report with his probation officer. On the present facts, we find appellant's failure to file one monthly report does not constitute a substantial violation of the terms of his probation.

We reverse and remand, directing the trial court to return appellant to probationary status. (emphasis added).

This is true even where the defendant admits that violation. <u>Sanders v. State</u>, supra. This is true even where the defendant files <u>two</u> reports late. <u>Monroe v. State</u>, 679

 $^{^{1}}$ Curiously, the state confessed error on authority of *Glenn* in *Jones v. State*, 615 So. 2d 724 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1993). The state should not be permitted to take inconsistent positions in the various appellate courts.

So. 2d 50 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996).

Petitioner cites <u>Schwartz v. State</u>, 719 So. 2d 965 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998), for the proposition that "The failure to file a single monthly report is a wilful and substantial violation of probation." (PB at 7). This statement is not entirely correct.

In <u>Schwartz</u>, the probationer failed to file a monthly report because he claimed he was incapacitated in an accident. The judge rejected this excuse. That is not what happened here. As the lower tribunal noted, none of the cases in <u>Schwartz</u> held that the failure to file only one monthly report, in and of itself, was a substantial and material violation of probation:

We note, however, that none of the cases cited as authority in Schwartz holds that the failure to file a single monthly report by itself may be a proper basis for revocation. Each of the cited cases hold[s] that the failure to file more than one monthly report may constitute a sufficient ground for revocation. See Thompson v. State, 710 So. 2d 80, 81 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998), Warren v. State, 499 So. 2d 55, 56 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986), and Davis v. State, 474 So. 2d 1246, 1247 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985).

Appendix; bold emphasis added. Thus, <u>Schwartz</u> is distinguishable.

Likewise, petitioner also relies on <u>Strunk v. State</u>, 728

So. 2d 320 (Fla. 5th DCA 1999). <u>Strunk</u> held that the failure to file a monthly report, <u>coupled</u> <u>with</u> the failure to report to

the probation office, <u>coupled with</u> no explanation for these two omissions, constituted a willful violation. <u>Strunk</u> is distinguishable on its facts and does not stand for the broad proposition expressed by petitioner.

This Court should approve the holding of the First and Second Districts that the failure to file one monthly report, in and of itself, is not a substantial and material violation of probation.

V CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing argument, reasoning, and citation of authority, respondent requests that this Court affirm the decision of the lower tribunal.

Respectfully Submitted,

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

P. DOUGLAS BRINKMEYER Fla. Bar No. 197890 Assistant Public Defender 301 South Monroe Street Suite 401 Tallahassee, Florida 32301 (850) 488-2458

Attorney for Respondent